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Our Missions in Virginia and

North Carolina.

By REV . J.W.WITHERSPOON, D , D., CORRESPOND

ING SECRETARY OF THE BOARD OF FREEDMENS'

MISSIONS.

Chase City , Va . - In Philadelphia at themeeting of

the General Assembly , May 1876 , Rev. J. Y. Ash

enhurst came to the Coresponding Secretary with

a personal plea for the Freedmen in and near Chase

City, Va. , and assigned many strong reasons why a

niission should be established at that place. The

matter was discussed at the next meeling of the

Board , and very soon correspondence was opened

with tho : e who seemed to be interested in the work .

Several communications were received from premi

nent citizens of the place strongly urgiig thatthis field

was both needy and open for occupancy. Mr. John

Thyne, a United Presbyterian , formerly of a congre

gation in Argyle Presbytery , but at this timeresiding

near Chase City , forwarded to the Board a most prac

tical plea for the Freedmen of the place,by proposing

that if a mission were established there he would

donate to the Board his home consisting of five acres

of land on which was erected a good new two story

dwelling. This plan was effective, the pioposition

was accepted, and it was resolved to begin the work .

Mr. J. J. Ashenhurst son of Rev. J. Y. Aslenhurst,

was appointed missionary. He secured a small room ,

very unsuitable but the best that could be procured

and fitted it up , Mr. Thyne making desks for it free

of charge, and opened the school on the sixth day of

November, 1876. The school enrollment for the first

six months was seventy three, and that of the Sab

bath school for the sameperiod was seventy eight.

Mr. Thyne, in fulfilment of his first promise, for
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warded to the Board a deed to his property , in fee

simple, valued at $ 2500 ,in Aprilof 1877,and to show

still further his interest iu the work , sent a propo

sition to the effect, that if the Board would furnish

the material, he would trect on the lot now deeded

to it, a school building suitable for the mission .

This proposition was also accepted and at the first of

S : ptember, 1878, school op, nied in a new two story

building containing chapel and three school rooms,

at a cost of about $ 800 to the Board . The school has

been known ever since by the name, THYNE IN .

STITUTE . The school prospered , and to all appear

ance had a b ight future. But soon a very bitter op

position to the whole work sprung up among the col

ored people themselves. It soon becameknown that

the opposition was gendered by a colored Baptist

preacher who was pastor of a large congregation in

the vicinity . It appeared that he had expected to be

given a place in the school, and on discovering that

his services were not required set himself the task of

breaking down the entire work . And for a time it

seemed as though he would accomplish his aim . He

went in :o the Baptist Association " and had resolu

tiors adopted denouncing themovement and warning

the colored people connected with the Baptist church

notto send their children to the school under penalty

of expulsion from the church . The prospect was

very discouraging for a timebut the workers in the

missionsbehaved themselves wisely and acted pru

dently toward all, and soon a reaction set in , and

themission grew and prospered . During the entire

period of the existence of themission the school has

maintained a yearly average attendance of perhaps

more than 200 in all departments , and the relig

ious work has had a healthy and steady growth .

Rev. Matthew Clarke was appointed missionary

to this field in 1878, and with his wife entered the

field soon after, greatly to the profit of the work .

Heconducted religious services on Sabbath and fre

quently during the week and the interest seemed to

deepen during his time in the field . Mr. J. J. Ash

enhurst resigned as principal of the school in 1880 ,

and Mr. Clarke became the head of the school, and

.
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had the entire work in his control.
He also gave

some time to a needy field about sixteen miles dis

tant which afterward becamea permanent mission .

Mr. Clarke retired from the work at Chase City in the

summer of 1881 and Rev. John A. Ramsay was

chosen as his successor and served two years . The

mission prospered under his labors , and in March ,

1882, a congregation
was organized with thirteen

members. This was the signal for another systematic ,

organized effort on the part of the opposition to break

down tlie work , but those who had been enrolled as

members of the new organization suffered their per

secuition without flinching , the missionaries
were

prudent and trusting, and God overruled the worst

of the opposers, for his glory and the good cause

prospered . The heaviest shock the work had re

ceived canie on the morning of May 15, *1883, when

the teacher's home, the former residence of Mr.

John Thynewas destroyed by fire. The fire origina

ted in the attic when all were.asleep , and the flames

bursting through the ceiling of the room in which

two of the teachers were sleeping was the first inti.

mation of their danger; all escaped uninjured and suc

ceeded in saving nearly all their furniture. The ori

gin of the fire is unknown. Thebuilding was insur

ed , and was soon replaced by another better adapted

to the needs of the work .

Rev. J. A. Ramsay was transferred to another

mission in the Summer of 1883, and Rev: J. H. Vea

zey took charge of this field where he labored suc .

cessfully for ten years, resigning in 1893 to take up

auiother line of work for the Master.

The work at the beginning of this administration

had becomecrystalized , and was in readiness for rap

id development, and itsmost permanent growth was

secured during this period . The school work was

enlarged , a Normal Department wasadded and also a

primary training school. The industrial work was

more fully emphasized . During this period the

“ Girls' Industrial Home” was erected at a cost of

$ 3,000 by the Women's Board , for students who

came from distant places. They are under the care

of a matron , taught the art of cooking and all
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parts of liousekeeping in a practical way in this home,

and more recently a Departmentof Domestic Science

has been established.

Rev. J. M.Moore, Ph. D., succeeded Mr. Veazey

in 1893, and continues in charge of the work at the

present writing . The work has been well done in all

the years; and the congregation has enjoyed a healthy

growth and is the largest as to membership of any

of the missions of the church among the Freednien .

The school building has been enlarged , all the de

partments of the schoolmaintained, a Domestic Sci

ence Department and an Agricultural Department

added to the industrial line of instruction, and the

whole enjoying the confidence and having the hearty

approbation of both races in all the community .

Bluestone, Va. - As an outgrowth of the work at

Chase City , a mission was begun at Bluestone, Va.,

about sixteen miles distant. There was in that vi

cinity a small United Presbyterian congregation com

posed mostly of colonists from the North . These

people were earnest in their pleadings for a mission

to be established for the Freedmen , and promised

material aid in securing.premises in case a mission

be established . Meantime these people were main

taining a small Sabbath school for the colored people .

The mission was established in 1880 . Mr. Wm . Mc

Lean , formerly of Jamestown , Pa. , donated ten acres

of ground ,beautifully situated , giving a fee simple

deed for it to the Board of Freedmens' Missions. A

framebuilding 40x60 feet, two stories high , contain

ing chapel and three recitation rooms, was erected on

it during the summer and winter of 1879. This work

was done under the direction and management of

Rev. Mathew Clarke who was then in charge of the

Chase City mission . The schoolwas opened Februa

ry 16 , 1880 , with E. P. McLean , M.D., as principal.

The colored people contributed $ 150 in work toward

the new building and the members of the Stanton

congregation (white) about $ 200 in work andmaterial.

The Board closed its report to the General Assembly

in theMay following in these words : “ This field is

one of special interest because of the very large num

ber of colored people in the immediate vicinity ; be
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cause of their destitution and ignorance, and because

of the manifest providence which has led to the estab

lishment of the mission where it is located on a farm

on which for many years the annual sale of slaves

took place, for the market in the South or Gulfstátes.

The ruins of the old jail in which the slaves, brought

in from neighboring plantations for themarket, were

shut up are in full view from this house, where the

free Gospel is now preached to them which , applied

hy the spirit,makes them free with the liberty where

with Christ makes his people free.”'

Dr. McLean resigned the principalship March 25th ,

1881, and Miss Helen McLean filled the position of

principal to the close of the school term in May . Rev.

Mathew Clarkeretired from thework in this vicinity

during the summer of 1881. Prof. J. A. Littell took

charge of the school as principal, Sept. 1881, and

continued in that position till the close of the school

term , 1883. Meanwhile Rev. J. A. Ramsay of

Chase City, preached occassionally in this mission ,

and upon retirement of Mr. Littel was transferred

to Bluestone and becamepriucipal of the school and

general missionary .

The next year 1884, on the 20th of April a congre

gation was organized with ten members. Mr.

Ramsay remained in this field until 1890 when he re

signed and retired from the work .

During the years of his service thework made com

mendable progress, and the congregation grew very

encouragingly, but during those years there was no

ticable a very decided change taking place in the

community itself whieh suggested that the future of

the mission as to its growth and success was, to say

the least, doubtful. In the Spring of 1889 the Board

called attention of the general assembly to these con

* ditions in the following statement: - " Owing to the

hard times last year many were forced to remove

from the neighborhood , some going north others go

in other directions. By these removals the member

ship of the congregation and the attendance at the

school were decreased materially .” These condi

tions continued , and the exodus to other places of

the colored people increased, until it was ascertained
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that the colored population had decreased at least

50 per cent since the establishment of the mission and

in the Spring of 1890 , the Board recommended the

removal of the mission to a more promising field

and the general assembly approved the recommenda

tion . During that summer, 1890 , the removal of

this mission was begun , Henderson , N. C., laving

been selected as a much more promising and needy

field . It was decided however after a careful and

prayerful examination of the field , not to remove the

mission whɔlly, but to rearrange and reorganize it.

Three small buildingswere fitted up ; on the grounds,

one for a dwelling for the teachers and the other two

for school purposes and the larger buildings, 'the

schoolhonse and teacher's home, removed to the new

field . The mission here was put in charge of Mr.

W.M.Fowlkes and two teachers, and the Principal

at Chase City supplied the mission with occasional

preaching Mr. Fowlkes studied theology privately

and was sometime after ordained to the office of the

holy ministry. The little congregation at Bluestone

built for themselves a neat chapel with a very little

assistance from the Board and still maintains a mem

bership of about fifty . Mr. Fowlkes remained in the

mission till Feb. 1901, when he resigned and was suic

ceeded by Mr. Wm. G.Wilson) . Mr. Wilson " also

studied privately and was subsequently ordained to

the gospel ministry. The mission is doing good work

in the limited field under his care at the present

time.

Norfolk , Va .- In December, 1882, a few friends of

the Freedmen raised a sum of money and sent it to

Rev. Mathew Clarke under the direction of the

Board , to explore needy fields in Virginia with a

view to opening a Mission . Mr. Clarke went and

after visiting several places returned, and reported

to the Board that Norfolk with a school population

of 4000 colored youths with accomodation for only

1000 in the public schools, and a sentimentprevalent

among both white and colored citizens favorable

to Negro education , was in his opinion a most prom

ising field . The Board took the same view , and at

pace resolved that so soon as fundswere received a
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mission should be established there and shortly

after this the Coresponding Secretary received a

draft for $ 100 from the same persons (residing in

Chicago, Ill.) who had raised tlie fund for the ex

ploring of the field with a request that it be used in

establishing a mission at Norfolk . A meeting of tlie

Board was called and it was resolved to open a mis

sion at Norfolk at once; Rev. and Mrs. Matthew

Clarke were appointed to the new field , who in a few

days left for the work , arriving in Norfolk Jan. 15 ,

1883. The work was begun soon as a room could be

procured , and from the start was most encouraging .

Other teachers were sent, and other accommodations

secured as suitable as poosible, and the school con

tinued to the end of the scliool year when Mr. Clarke

senthis report to the Board which showed that 467

pupils had been enrolled , and that the attendance

during themonth of April was 342, making a total

average for the three months just closed of 221.

Mr. Clark closed his report with these earnest words:

“ Great expectations havebeen awakened by our eni

terprise among both colored and white , and we'must

not disappoint them . Our school was founded in

prayer, and the Lord has heard our prayers and sent

us the hungry to be fed . Dare we send them away

empty? The Master says: “ They need not depart

give ye them to eat. '

In July of the same year the President of the

Board, Dr. W. H.McMillan , and the corresponding

secretary visited Norfolk , and with Mr. Clarkemade

a careful study of the field and held conferences with

prominent men of the city of both races.
It was

agreed that the field was most important and should

be occupied at once by the erection of permanent

buildings. The cominittee before returning pur

chiased a block of five lots fronting 125. feet on Prin

cess Ann road , running along. Cherry street 100 feet

to Pine street, subject to the approval of the Board .

The Board approved the purchase. Plans and specifi

cations for a school building 64x84 feet ard three

stories high above the basementwere prepared , ard

the contract for the erection of tlie building was

awarded to Murray and Jarvis , of Norfolk , for the
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sum of $ 15,5 + 5 , who completed the contract in a sat

isfactory manner. The school was opened in the

new building Sept. ist., 1884, one year after the

purchase of the land. The enrollment of the school

during the school year of 1884 and 1885, reached

thie total of 986 in the day school, and 64 in the

night schoolwhose vames did not appear on the day

school rolls, making a grand total of 1050 pupils who

received some instructions in the school during the

year. The religious work was carried on with

muchi vigor in connection with the every day work

in the school, and on Sabbath . The Sabbath school

had an enrollment of 398 for the year. The usual

bitter opposition from the pastors of colored churches

and others in the city soon made its appearance, and

has been keptup with more or less vehemence ever

since . During the summer and autumn of 1885 the

teachers ' home was erected on a lot adjoining the

school lot and was occupied by the teachers shortly

after the holidays, 1886. This year was not less en

couraging tlian the preceeding one. On the 25th of

April, 1886 , a congregation was organized with 14

members and the first communion was held on the

sameday, a large and interested audience being pres

ent to witness the ceremony.

All this work was undertaken and carried forward

with such encouraging success under the manage

mentof Rev.M.Clarke the principal and pastor, and

at the end of the school year he resigned his place ,

and retired from thework . Rev.W.L.Wallace,D.D.,

was elected to succeed Mr. Clarke in this greatwork .

He served until the close of the school year 1889 ,

when on account of failing health lie resigned . Rev.

William Wallace succeeded him and served as prin

cipalfor a short time. Rev. David R.McDonald re

ceived appointment as his successor , and entered

upon his duties in February 1890 , and served one

year retiring in February 1891. The work dur

ing these two administrations was uninterrupted,

keeping up well to the high standard set for it at the

first. On account of many of the day scholars

not attending Sabbath school the religious work

seemed small in comparison. Accordingly , a regu



VIRGINIA AND NORTH CAROLINA MİSSIONS. 71

lation was enforced to give only those pupils the priv

ilege of the day school who would regularly attend

the Sabbath school. This rule has been strictly en

forced since 1889, and during that period “ Norfolk

Mission College'' has the largest and best Sabbatli

school in the city .

Rev. J. B. Work succeeded Mr.McDonald in the

principalship, and served faithfully and successfully

till the end of the schoolyear 1896 .

During this administration the work assumed per

haps a more permanent form than at anyprevioustime.

The primary training schoolwas put under a principal

and the curriculum made to include and not to ex

ceed thebranchesusually taught in a city high school,

all of which had been done to somedegree previous

to this time, but now is made a part of the established

plan of the mission . The industrialwork received a

forward impulse also . From the beginning sewing had

been a partof the work of every day and printing bad

been introduced and taught in a small way, but now

the facilities for doing better and larger work are in

creased and an instructor employed who gives his

whole time to the work of the printing office and a.

large number of boys and girls learn the art in its

different parts. This department has ever since been

one of the prominent and profitable features of the

industrial work at Norfolk .

Dr. Work was succeeded by Rev. Wm .McKirahan

as principal and pastor in 1896 , who is still in charge

of the work . When he took charge of the work the

plant consisted of the college building , the teachers'

home and a workshop in which is now located the

heating apparatus for lieating the school and home.

It also contains the printing department. A fourth

building was erected by theprincipal without any ex

pense to the Board or the church . This one is oc

cupied by the Domestic Science Department. This

department was the first to be established upon this

plan among all of our missions.

A few years ago the Board purchased the lot cor

nering on Princess Ann avenue and Chapel street,

giving the mission the entire front on Princess Ann

avenue from Cherry to Chapel street on which stood
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a building notorious for the wickedness done within

its walls. This building has been removed to the

rear of the lot and fixed up for a dormitory for girls .

The fifth building is a churcli now in the process of

building on the corner of the above said lot.

The school has always maintained a high standard

both in discipline and in scholarly excellence . And

the religious work has from the beginning until the

present received the earnest attention and united ef

fort ofall theworkers in the mission . This has been

our largest school andmost largely attended mission ,

having a total enrollment for the twenty years of its

service of 14,138, and an average of 706 for each

year .

Thelargest yearly enrollment in the Sabbath school

was in 1898 wlien it reached the grand total of 1,162 .

The total enrollmenl in the Sabbath school for the

last ten years hasbeen 8,035, a yearly average of 803.

Henderson , N. C. — The establishment of a mission

in this place was decided upon by the Board in 1889,

subject to the approval of the General Assembly.

This approvalwas given at the next meeting of that

court, and steps were taken to carry out the purpose.

In the early autumn of 1890 tlie Board purchased a

beautiful tract containing thirteen acres just out

side the limits of the towni, having thereoni a good

dwelling of six rooms, an orchard, shrubbery and a

: fine spring of running water, for the sum of $ 1,700.

So soon as practicable after the purchase the grounds

were properly fenced and otherwise prepared for the

work of the mission . This work was done under the

supervision of Rev. John D. Irons, D. D., who was

spending a shiort time in the place, without any com

pensation . The large school building and the teach

ers' dwelling at Bluestone were removed and re

erected on these grounds,and thusthemission premi

ses were put in readiness for openiug the work . The

mission was opened as a new station September 1 ,

1891, under the superintendence of Rev. J. M. Ful

ton , D. D., who had been elected principal early

in the preceding summer. The school opened with

58 pupils , but grew so rapidly that additional work

ers were sent at the callof the principal in only a few
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months. The first year showed an enrollment of 586 .

The work was begun and carried on along all lines

educational, religious and industrial - and was pushed

with the vigor for which the principal was noted in

all his work . Belore the year was ended , he was

calling for larger school buildings, a separate build

ing for sewing and housekeeping classes and cheap

dormitory buildings, (one for boys and one for girls )

where boys and girls could board themselves and go

to school, and this additionalequipmentwas all sup

plied just as speedily as possible . At the end of the

first year the mission was thoroughly established

upon a sure foundation and the principal was esteemed

by the colored people as a veritable Moses, come to

lead them out, and by the white people profoundly

respected . The second year was a repetition of the

first with the same principaland practically the same

teachers. At the close of that year the principal

wrote: “ In the day scliool we have 702 enrolled ;

425 of them are regular attendants. Thenight school

for five months reached 200 of an eurollment, so

have been permitted to reach the minds of goo during

the year. In our religious services we were per

mitted to teach and preach to as many niore. We

have had Sabb:1th school and preaching every Sab

bath with an arerage attendance of600.”

Dr. Fulton , on account of failing health , retired

from the work at the end of this second year, greatly

to the regret of themission and of the Board. In clos

ing his second and last annual report to the Board he

said . " I am sorry to leave the work . It is a work

to command thebest energies of anyman in the church .

With all the burdens it has its bright side, and to

have the consciousness that you are the instrument of

preaching the Gospel to the poor makes up for all the

isolation and ostracism that conie to such workers in

this southland.”

Rev. C. L.McCracken succeeded Dr. Fulton , tak

ing charge of the work September 1, 1893, and con

tinued faithfully and doing the work efficiently un

til June 28, 1898, when the Master called him from

the field to his reward . He rests from his labors and

his worksfollow him . During his service themission

maintained its high standard both in attendance and
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in the efficiency of the work . The most important

advance wasmade, however, in the religious work .

There had been embarrassment from the beginning

in conducting this work owing to the fact that the

Presbyterian Board of Freedmers' Missions had a

small congregation and Sabbath school in the towni

of Henderson and any step taken by us looking to

ward the organization of the religious work was lia

ble to be construed as in opposition to their work .

This difficulty was overcome by our Board's purchas

ing their property consisting of lot and a neat and

comfortable church building , and a parsonage, (pay

ing for all $ 1,700 ), the congregation and the Presby

tery, to which it belonged , having given their con

sent to the transfer . When this arrangement had

been completed Rev. J.M. Moore and the session of

the Chase City congregation came to Henderson and

reorganised the corgregation as a United Presbyte

rian congregation , January 14 , 1898, with a roll of

25 members and two ruling elders . Thus the former

embarrassments being removed the religious work

took on new life and has gove forward encouragingiy

to the present. The death of Mr. McCracken was

greatly lamented by the colored people and by the

white citizens of the place . He had endeared hini

self to all the community by his gentle and Christian

life , his scholarly and manly bearing in all his rela

tions. The righteons shall be had in everlasting re

membrance .

Rev. A. N. Porter succeeded to the principalship

npon the death of Mr. McCracken and served one

year when he retired and Rev. D. A. W. Johnson

took up the work and carried it on for one year. At

the close of the scl:ool term , 1900, he resigned and

the mission was again left without an official head .

At this juncture the Board decided upon making

a change of administration , and to place the entire

work here under the care of a colored principal. Ac

cordingly Rev. J. L. Cook , who for ten years had

been in charge as pastor and principal in the mission

at Athens, Tenn ., was placed at the head of themis

sion to have charge of the secular and religiouswork ,

and was given a corps of carefully selected and tried

workers. He entered this field in the summer of
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1900. Themission prospered under his admiuisfra

tion . He labored earnestly and incessantly - beyond

his power to endure - until July 5 , 1903, when he en

tered into rest. The Rev. John A.Cotton was trans

ferred from the mission atClevelaud , Tenn . , and suc

ceeds Mr. Cook , havingbegun his work August 1903.

In all this eastern group of missions industrial

work is carried on according to the facilities at hand

in each place — cooking, sewing, dressmaking , print

ing and agriculture. In Chase City and Norfolk a

regular and well equipped Department of Domestic

Science is maintained . The womau's Board pays

all the salaries of industrial teachers except the teachi

ers of printing and agriculture .
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